$\alpha^{\gamma_{\varphi}}$

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARY ROSE MAZZEO,

Petitioner,

V.

CITY OF SEBASTIAN, etc.,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 72,744

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
(On Certified Question From the Fourth District Court of Appeal)

RICHARD A. KUPFER, ESQ.

CONE, WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON, ROTH & ROMANO, P.A.
Flagler Center Tower
Suite 300
505 South Flagler Drive
P. O. Box 3466
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
(407) 655-5200
Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a lawsuit involving a tragic accident that occurred on July 5, 1982, at Swim Lake, in the City of Sebastian. Swim Lake is a public recreation park owned and operated by the City (R. 824, 206). The park contains an artificial lake (R. 869, 682, 226-227), along with playground equipment, a pavilion, and various picnic tables (R. 132, 216) and a wooden dock that extends 38 feet out onto the lake. (R. 102, 211, 262). The dock was built as a platform for people to walk out on the lake rather than for boats since there is no boating activity in the lake. (R. 587). The dock is elevated about 2 1/2 to 3 feet above the water. (R. 212).

The City admitted **it** was aware that people frequently dove off the dock into the lake. (R. 207, 218). There was additional evidence and photographs showing this to be a frequent occurrence at Swim Lake. (R. 102, 122, 555, 677. The Mayor of the City testified at trial that even he and his own children frequently jumped off the dock into Swim Lake. (R. 209-211). At the end of the dock the water was only 3 to 4 feet deep. (R. 212, 262).

In 1979 (several years before the injury to this

^{1.} The Fourth DCA's majority opinion (App. A-2) states there was no boating on the lake because the lake is too shallow for boating activity. Although the record indicates there was no boating activity on the lake (R. 587), we do not believe the record indicates the reason for that.

Plaintiff) the City received correspondence from its insurance carrier, Aetna Insurance Company, stating that a safety inspection performed by the carrier disclosed some areas that should be attended to; one of which was that the City should erect "no diving" signs on the dock at Swim Lake and should consider providing lifeguard services. (R. 219-221, 731). Initially the City put up "no diving" signs on the dock pursuant to Aetna's suggestion but they were occasionally removed by unknown people. (R. 230-231).

Eventually, instead of nailing up signs the City used a stencil and painted the words "no diving" on the floor of the dock itself. The Mayor of the City admitted at trial that the reason for the stencil was because "we assumed that there would be people diving off the dock" and because the City knew it was dangerous to dive from the dock. (R. 218). Howe || ar the City used white paint to paint the letters on a white sunbleached wooden dock and the testimony was uncontradicted that by the time of the 1982 accident the paint had weatherec and the words were faded and obscured. (R. 266-267, 509-510, 584, 587). There were no other "no diving" signs posted on the dock or anywhere else around the lake on the day of the (R. 117, 122, 135, 217, 555-556, 558, 640). The accident.

The Fourth DCA's majority opinion (App. A-2) states that "no diving" signs were exhibited in various places from time to time by the City. However, the evidence at trial was uncontradicted that there were no such signs posted on the dock or around the lake on the day of the accident (other than the faded "no diving" stencil on the dock itself), nor when the area was inspected a few days later (R. 217).

only sign posted was one in the pavilion which said "swim at your own risk." (R. 122, 216, 640). There were also no lifeguards present. (R. 629).

The only safety expert to testify on the subject at trial (Ronald Dale) was of the opinion that it constitutes a dangerous condition to maintain a platform 2 1/2 feet over the surface of water only 45 to 48 inches deep. (R. 264-2661 The minimum recommended depth of water under such a platform would be 8 1/2 feet deep. (R. 265). The City admittedly knew through its Mayor) that a dangerous condition existed. (R. 28).

The potential danger became a reality on July 5, 1982, when Mary Rose Mazzeo, who was then 29 years old (R. 430), and a mother of two children (R. 550), dove into the lake from the platform and broke her neck when she struck her head on the bottom. (R. 166, 177).

When Mary Rose Mazzeo (the Plaintiff) arrived at Swim Lake with James Roberts and her two children there were about 25 other people around the lake area. (R. 132-133). Mary, James and the children swam and jumped off the dock for a while before the accident happened. (R. 134).

There was a conflict in the evidence concerning the events that occurred just before the Plaintiff's fateful dive into the water. A witness (Linda Martino) testified she observed the events that occurred from a vantage point about 50 feet away from where Plaintiff dove into the lake. (R. 602, 618-619). Ms. Martino testified that Plaintiff had beer

standing in the water at the end of the dock before the accident with James Roberts who was trying to teach Plaintiff daughter how to dive into the water. Ms. Martino testified that James Roberts told Plaintiff to get up on the dock and show her daughter how to dive; whereupon Plaintiff initially did not want to and said, "It's not deep enough;" but she later capitulated and dove into the water. (R. 603, 606-608)

James Roberts testified at trial and disagreed with Ms.

Martino. He denied that Plaintiff said anything about the water not being deep enough to dive. (R. 139). Plaintiff testified she had no recollection about standing in the water at the end of the dock (R. 558, 576) nor about saying anything to James Roberts about the water being too shallow to dive.

(R. 577-578). 3

As a result of the accident the Plaintiff has become an "incomplete C-5 quadriplegic." (R. 159, 164, 165, 311). This resulted from a fracture of the C-3, the C-3/4, and the C-5 vertibrae (R. 312). After time and physical therapy Plaintiff has gained back certain limited function of her limbs on one side and is now a "functional hemiplegic." (R. 339).

The Plaintiff sued the City for maintaining a dangerous condition and negligent failure to warn (R. 820-822; 870).

^{3.} For purposes of this appeal we accept, as we must, the testimony of Ms. Martino. We simply point out the conflict to give a complete and accurate synopsis of the testimony at trial.

It was Plaintiff's position that the City should have made the area next to the platform safe for diving instead of just maintaining a faded "no diving" stencil on the floor of the wooden dock, and that the warning itself was insufficient. The City alleged as an affirmative defense that Plaintiff voluntarily exposed herself to a known risk and therefore her action should either be barred entirely or her recovery should be proportionately diminished. (R. 824-825). After the presentation of all the evidence the City requested the lower court to instruct the jury on express assumption of the risk (as well as on comparative negligence) based on a case from the First DCA which analogizes diving to a contact sport (R. 656-657). The City argued that the contact sport cases should also apply to any "aberrant form of participation in ϵ recreational activity, • • notwithstanding the fact that diving is of course not a contact sport and involves no other participants." (R. 661). Over Plaintiff's objection (R. 662 the lower court decided to allow the defense of express assumption of the risk to go to the jury, but expressed great reluctance in doing so:

The Court: I am still disturbed about it.

I mean I am not sure the Supreme
Court will uphold that. They
may limit express assumption of
risk to contact sports because
it's based on a contractual
relationship. I am not sure you
can say that diving or any noncontact sport you are contractually
agreeing to the assumption of
risk.

Well, I am going to give your instruction, but I am worried about it. But I feel I have [to] give it, and that's instruction 3.8 (R. 661-662).

I wouldn't be surprised at all if the Supreme Court held that in non-contact sports even if it could be express assumption of risk that it merges in comparative negligence. (R, 667).

Since the possibility of reversal on appeal was recognize at trial, the lower court suggested that the verdict form allow the jury to answer all questions including the percentage of comparative negligence, amount of damages, etc., ever if the jury should answer "yes" to the assumption of risk question. In that way, if the case was reversed on appeal it would not need to be retried, (R. 667-668). However, the city objected on grounds that it would confuse the jury so the lower court did not press it. (R. 668-669).

The case was submitted to the jury on the dual theories of whether the City was negligent in failing to maintain the park in a reasonably safe condition for its invitees, and whether it negligently failed to warn about a dangerous condition. (R. 736, 662). The jury was first instructed on the assumption of risk defense (R. 737), and then instructed that if they found both Plaintiff and the City negligent the court would reduce the award by the proper percentage. (R. 738, 740-741). Then the jury was instructed that if they answered question #2 (on assumption of risk) "yes," their

verdict was for the City and they should proceed no further expect to sign the verdict and return **it** to the courtroom, (R. 742). Then they were instructed if they found Plaintiff negligent to any degree the court would just reduce her damages. (R. 743). Plaintiff again objected to the assumption of risk defense. (R. 747).

The jury was confused when it retired to deliberate and it came back again to the court with a request to clarify the instructions concerning the assumption of risk defense. jury's note to the court stated: "Reading the instructions given seems to contradict question 2. If we find both plaintiff and defendant negligent, do we assign a percentage of negligence, or just sign and date the verdict?" (R. 749). The jury was under the impression that by answering "yes" to questions 1 and 2 they would be finding both plaintiff and defendant negligent. The lower court acknowledged that the jury was obviously confused about express assumption of the risk (R. 749), and that this is why the court had serious questions about the assumption of risk defense in a case of this sort. The court stated, "I think it's very confusing. and I know it's more confusing to a jury." (R. 752). The lower court then re-read to the jury the same instructions that had confused them the first time; including the comparative negligence instructions. (R. 755-757). The jury then retired again and finally returned with a verdict.

The jury found that there was negligence on the part of the City which caused plaintiff's damages, however the jury lso found an express assumption of the risk by answering yes" to the second question on the verdict form. (R. 760, 94). The jury then just signed and dated the verdict leaving the rest of it blank). Plaintiff immediately moved or a new trial and the court reserved ruling until written options were received. (R. 762).

Three days after the verdict the clerk of the court filed in affidavit stating that she had been informed by one of the urors that the entire jury thought that its job was to lecide the question of negligence and that the court would apportion the percentage of fault and decide the dollar amount of damages. (R, 896; see also Appendix "B" to this prief). The juror was "shocked" when the clerk told her the neaning of the verdict. (Appendix "B").

Plaintiff timely served motions for new trial on the issue of damages and apportionment of fault only (R. 901) or alternatively on all issues (R. 900, 775). The trial court entered final judgment for the City (R. 916), and denied plaintiff's motion for new trial (R. 920-921). The trial court's order denying a new trial states:

As to the application of the defense of express assumption of the risk, the court finds this to be a close and difficult question. However, the court finds that the case of Robbins v Department of Natural Resources, 468 So.2d 1041 (Fla. App. 1st Dist. 1985) is applicable and controlling. The facts in Robbins are very similar to the facts in this case. Although it may be an unwarranted extension of the doctrine of express assumption of the risk beyond what was envisioned by the Supreme Court in

On appeal to the Fourth DCA, the issue was framed as follows:

Whether the doctrine of express assumption of the risk applies as a complete bar to a premises liability case such as this one, which does not involve contact sports, nor a contractual waiver of liability, nor any reliance by the defendant on the conduct of the plaintiff?⁴

The Fourth DCA, in a 2 to 1 decision, held:

We believe • • • that express assumption of risk as a complete defense is not limited to contact sports or express contracts not to sue. [citing a prior Fourth DCA case], Lest there be any doubt as to this court's stance, we so align ourselves with that position at this time.

The Fourth DCA certified the question to this court as an issue of great public importance. Judge Stone wrote a dissenting opinion in which he expressed the belief that the majority was improperly extending the doctrine created by this court in Kuehner v Green, infra, to a fact situation which is not analogous to Kuehner. (App. A-9 and 10). Judge

^{4.} A second issue was also raised on appeal by the plaintiff concerning the trial court's refusal to re-instruct the jury that a finding of assumption of risk will mean that plaintiff obtains no recovery against the City; and the trial court's refusal to allow plaintiff to interview the juror who had stated to the clerk that the entire jury misunderstood the verdict. Since that falls outside the question certified to this court we are not separately raising it as an independent issue in this brief. However, we believe it is still relevant in that it reflects the impropriety of instructing the jury on both assumption of risk and comparative negligence in a case of this nature.

;tone opined that the issue for the jury in this case is comparative negligence rather than assumption of risk.

This court has tentatively accepted jurisdiction to answer the certified question and directed the parties to file briefs on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a premises liability case (not a contact sport case and even if Plaintiff knew the depth of the water, that loes not diminish the City's duty to maintain safe premises. It only goes to the concomitant duty to warn of a dangerous condition. Plaintiff's knowledge of a potential danger on the premises merely raises a comparative negligence issue, not a complete defense.

This court has held that assumption of the risk has been lerged into comparative negligence, except for an express contractual assumption of risk, or where consent is exhibited and relied on by participating in a contact sport. The contact sport exception is premised on Plaintiff's consent to have other participants (who are relying on such consent) engage him in bodily contact which would be deemed tortious under other circumstances and which may injure him. That cationale is totally absent in this case. The City has never claimed to have relied on the Plaintiff assuming any articular risk. This court has not extended the doctrine in farther than the contact sport scenario and has most recently narrowed the doctrine in a premises liability case.

There are two applicable cases from this court on this subject and the present case is much closer to the <u>Ashcroft</u> zase than **it** is to the <u>Kuehner</u> case. The District Court of Appeal cases which have extended the contact sport exception to cover any "aberrant form of participation in a recreationa activity" have taken this exception far beyond the point authorized by this court.

Also, in order for express assumption of risk to apply the plaintiff must subjectively realize at least the hazard of serious injury and not just the risk of a scrape on the nose or similar trivial injury. There was no evidence in thi zase that Plaintiff subjectively recognized the severity of the risk, and the jury's verdict makes no such finding. The verdict would not be sufficient to preclude all recovery even if express assumption of risk did apply to a case like this.

ARGUMENT

QUESTION CERTIFIED:

IS THE DOCTRINE OF EXPRESS ASSUMPTION OF RISK RESTRICTED TO EXPRESS CONTRACTS NOT TO SUE AND CONTACT SPORTS, OR DOES IT ALSO INCLUDE OTHER ACTIVITIES IN WHICH A PERSON, FULLY APPRECIATING THE DANGER INHERENT IN THE ACTIVITY, VOLUNTARILY AND DELIBERATELY PARTICIPATES IN THE ACTIVITY?

The question certified by the Fourth DCA is a fair statenent of the issue, but it can be improved upon because it
omits a few important details. We prefer the statement of
the issue as we had framed it before the Fourth DCA (see p. 9

supra) because this is specifically a premises liability case which does not involve any element of reliance by the defendant on the conduct of the plaintiff, nor does it involve a contractual waiver of liability or a contact sport.

There is no question the City owed the highest duty of care to the Plaintiff and all other invitees in its operation of the entire recreational park, including Swim Lake. Once a governmental entity decides to operate a swimming facility it assumes the duty to operate the facility as safely as any individual property owner would be required Avellone v Bd. of County Comm'n. of Citrus County, 493 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1986); Butler v Sarasota County, 501 So.2d 579 (Fla. 1986). It has long been recognized in Florida that a private landowner may be held responsible for maintaining an unsafe recreational bathing facility and failing to post warnings which caution members of the public not to dive from a particular spot into shallow water. Brightwell v Beem, 90 So.2d 320 (Fla. 1956); Turlington v Tampa Electric Co., 62 Fla. 398, 56 So. 696 (1911); First Arlington Inv. Corp. v McGuire, 311 So.2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975).

In fact, this court has indicated that a city operating a public park may owe an even higher standard of care than a private landowner would owe to an invitee in his backyard. See <u>City of Miami v Ameller</u>, 472 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1985)

(Held: Although a private landowner may have no duty to have a cushioning ground surface beneath monkey bars, a city may have such a duty when it is recognized as being the proper

standard for a public playground.) It therefore bears repeating that Swim Lake is not a natural condition; it was excavated and the wooden dock was later built along with picnic tables, a pavilion, etc., as part of a public attraction. A finding of liability in this case does not mean that a city must post signs around every lake or canal within its geographical boundaries. It also should be noted that the jury did find the city negligent in this case and this appeal does not involve the sufficiency of the evidence to support that finding. The city did not cross appeal on that point, or any other point.

The City argued to the trial court that express assumptio if the risk would act as a complete bar to this lawsuit based in the testimony of Ms. Martino who said she overheard plaintiff say that the water was too shallow to dive just before she dove. Even accepting that testimony and assuming plaintiff knew the depth of the water, that does not diminish the City's duty to maintain safe premises. It only goes to the duty to warn.

Prior to this case, even the Fourth DCA had held that in premises liability cases the plaintiff's equal knowledge of a langerous condition does not affect the landowner's duty to naintain safe premises, but it only makes it unnecessary to provide a warning. Passaro v The City of Sunrise, Fla., 415 30.2d 162 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (Held: Plaintiff's knowledge of the danger on the premises raises a comparative negligence issue). See also Rea v Leadership Housing, Inc., 312 So.2d

v Dorta, 348 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1977). In Blythe v Williams, 356 So.2d 334 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) the Fourth DCA held that even though the plaintiff had admittedly checked the depth of the water just before he dove into it from a swing that was constructed and maintained by the defendant, it was a comparative negligence issue. Recently, a different panel of the Fourth DCA stated in Stewart v Boho, Inc., 493 So.2d 95, 96 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986):

. . where the danger is of such a nature that the owner should reasonably anticipate that it creates an unreasonable risk of harm to an invitee notwithstanding a warning or the invitee's knowledge of the danger, then reasonable care may require that additional precautions be taken for the safety of the invitee. Concerning such hazards, the owner can be held liable to the invitee for failing to exercise reasonable care, even though the invitee was himself negligent in encountering the known danger, thus subjecting his claim to the defense of comparative [e.s.] Id. at 96. negligence.

Every other district court of appeal in Florida is in accord with this principle in premises liability cases.

See Bennett v Mattison, 382 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980);

Zambito v Southland Recreation Enterprises, Inc., 383 So.2d 989 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); Heath v First Baptist Church, 341 So.2d 265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Metropolitan Dade County v Yelvington, 392 So.2d 911 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Pittman v Volusia County, 380 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

Beginning with products liability cases, this court declared that the doctrine of implied assumption of the risk

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