IN THE SUPREME COURT OF LA Tallahassee, Florida SID J CASE NO. 7,2,744SUPARME COURT MARY ROSE MAZZEO, Deputy Clerk Petitioner, (FOURTH DCA CASE, NO. 87-1605)

CITY OF SEBASTIAN, etc.,

v.

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERTS & REYNOLDS P. O. Box 709 West Palm Beach, FL 33402-0709 (407) 832-5800and JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, and JOHN BERANEK, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Express assumption of the risk extends to situations where the plaintiff assumes the risk pursuant to an express contract and where the plaintiff is injured while engaged in a contact sport or aberrant form of activity where the plaintiff subjectively appreciated the risk giving rise to the injury yet proceeded to participate in the face of such danger. The risk of breaking one's neck is obvious and inherent in the aberrant sport of intentionally diving from a platform containing numerous "No Diving" stencils into known shallow water while trying to train a child how to do it without getting hurt.

The jury here found that the plaintiff actually consented to confront certain known dangers. If the jury had only found that the plaintiff should have appreciated the danger that caused her injury, comparative negligence would govern; however, the jury answered each of the questions regarding express assumption of the risk affirmatively. Plaintiff knew the depth of the water, had dived from the platform many times, and knew that diving into the shallow water could hurt her. She knew the risks and voluntarily chose to encounter them.

Contact sports are simply one application of express assumption of the risk. A continuing line of cases have expanded the doctrine to situations other than contact sports. The Fourth District properly affirmed the jury's verdict applying the doctrine of express assumption of the risk to this aberrant form of sporting activity, shallow water diving.

#### ARGUMENT

#### QUESTION CERTIFIED:

IS THE DOCTRINE OF EXPRESS ASSUMPTION OF RISK RESTRICTED TO EXPRESS CONTRACTS NOT TO SUE AND CONTACT SPORTS, OR DOES IT ALSO INCLUDE OTHER ACTIVITIES WHICH PERSON, IN Α DANGER **APPRECIATING** THEINHERENT VOLUNTARILY ACTIVITY, AND DELIBERATELY PARTICIPATES IN THE ACTIVITY?

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly found that the doctrine of express assumption of risk applies here where the jury found the plaintiff knew of the existence of the shallow water, realized and appreciated that she or her daughter would be injured as a result of diving into the water, and, having had every opportunity to avoid it, voluntarily and deliberately exposed herself to the danger by diving into the water. There is no reason to limit the doctrine to contact sports since there is no difference between contact sports and an aberrant form of a sporting

activity. In both, the participant volunteers to take certain chances and waives his right to impose liability on another for the injury from bodily contacts inherent in the chances taken.

As the owner and operator of a public park, the City had a duty to maintain the park in a condition reasonably safe for public use. City of Miami v. Ameller, 472 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1985). In Ameller, this Court approved the District Court's reversing the dismissal of plaintiff's complaint with prejudice because the City had adopted standards governing the equipment in question and allegedly violated its own standards. Ameller does not impose a higher standard of care on a city to an invitee than a private land owner. The duty imposed on the landowner is one of ordinary care, not to exercise such control as to be an insurer of the entrant's safety. Emmons v. Hospital, 478 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), review denied, 488 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1986); Cassel v. Price, 396 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), review denied, 407 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1981).

Under premises liability concepts, a property owner is not responsible for dangerous conditions existing in natural or artificial bodies of water unless they are so constructed

as to constitute a trap or there is some unusual danger not generally existing in similar bodies of water. Hughes v. Roarin 20's Inc., 455 So.2d 422 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), review denied, 462 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1985); Savignac v. Department of Transportation, 406 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), review 1982). denied, 413 So.2d 875 (Fla. Shallow water insufficient for diving does not constitute a trap. Warren v. Palm Beach County, 528 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Hughes v. Roarin 20's, Inc., supra. The City posted warning signs here in the form of "No Diving" stencils on the platform. In the cases plaintiff cites on page 12 of her brief, there was no evidence of any warnings. Brightwell v. Beem, 90 So.2d 320 (Fla. 1956); Turlington v. Tampa Electric Co., 62 Fla. 398, 56 So. 696 (1911); First Arlington Investment Corporation v. McGuire, 311 So.2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), cert. denied, 330 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1976).

The City has never contended that plaintiff's express assumption of the risk diminished its duty to maintain safe premises. The City agrees that a plaintiff's equal knowledge of a dangerous condition in premises liability cases does not affect the land owner's duty to maintain safe premises. A plaintiff's equal knowledge of a dangerous condition, however, is not equivalent to a plaintiff's express assumption of the risk.

None of the cases plaintiff cites on pages 13-15 of her brief involve express assumption of the risk. In each cited case, the court held that a patent danger or obvious hazard is equivalent to <a href="mailto:implied">implied</a> assumption of the risk, i.e. comparative negligence. In <a href="Blackburn v. Dorta">Blackburn v. Dorta</a>, 348 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1977), this Court held implied assumption of the risk merged with comparative negligence but excluded express assumption of the risk, defined as follows, on page 290 of the opinion, from the merger:

Included within the definition of express assumption of risk are express contracts not to sue for injury or loss which may thereafter be occasioned by the covenantee's negligence as well as situations in which actual consent exists such as where one voluntarily participates in a contact sport. (Emphasis added).

See Blaw-Knox Food & Chemical Equipment Corporation v. Holmes, 348 So.2d 604 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977).

Plaintiff narrowly reads <u>Blackburn</u> and its progeny, particularly <u>Kuehner v. Green</u>, 436 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1983), in claiming that express assumption of the risk is limited to contact sports. This clearly was not the intent of this Court nor the cases interpreting its decisions. Voluntary exposure or "actual consent" is the bedrock upon which the doctrine of express assumption of the risk rests. <u>Kuehner v. Green</u>, <u>supra</u>, 80. It is the <u>jury's function</u> to decide whether a participant actually consented to confront certain

danger. Kuehner v. Green, supra. In reaching that determination, the jury must decide whether the plaintiff subjectively appreciated the risk giving rise to the injury. If the jury finds the plaintiff recognized the risk and voluntarily proceeded to participate in the face of such danger, the jury can find the plaintiff expressly assumed the risk. Kuehner v. Green, supra.

Kuehner v. Green, supra, dealt with whether "express assumption of risk absolutely [bars] a plaintiff's recovery where he engages in a contact sport with another who injures him without deliberate intent to injure?" Kuehner applied the doctrine to contact sports but made no attempt to limit the holding to contact sports. If this Court had intented to limit the doctrine to only contact sports, it would have done so in Blackburn or Kuehner rather than limiting application of the doctrine to situations where actual consent exists and using contact sports as one example of such an application.

A continuing line of cases have expanded express assumption of the risk to situations other than contact sports. In <u>Black v. District Board of Trustees of Broward Community College Florida</u>, 491 So.2d 303 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), review denied, 500 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1986), the Fourth

District Court of Appeal affirmed a jury verdict finding a police officer trainee had expressly assumed the risk of the injuries she incurred during a police academy training exercise. In so holding, the Fourth District noted on page 305 how <u>Kuehner</u> and its progeny have <u>expanded</u> express assumption of the risk to include situations besides contact sports:

Subsequent case law has expanded the doctrine of express assumption of risk to a variety of situations, including riding a "mechanical bull," Van Tuyn v. Zurich American Insurance Co., 447 So.2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); horseback riding with another rider on a single saddle, <u>Carvajal v. Alvarez</u>, 462 So.2d 1156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>knowingly</u> diving into shallow water, Robbins v. Department of Natural Resources, 468 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and racing horses professionally, Ashcroft v. Calder Race Course, Inc., 464 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Although the courts in the above cases were.not always satisfied that the defendants their burden of proof met assumption of risk defense, in each case the court rejected the plaintiff's contention that express assumption of risk was inapplicable as a matter of law. (Emphasis added).

Similarly, Strickland v. Roberts, 382 So.2d 1338 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), review denied, 389 So.2d 1115 (Fla. 1980), affirmed a summary judgment for defendant where the plaintiff sued for negligence based on a water skiing accident at a church summer camp lake because the plaintiff "was injured while engaged in an aberrant form of the sport: swinging in as close as possible to a stationary dock for the purpose of spraying water on sunbathers." Likewise,

Gary v. Party Time Company, Inc., 434 So.2d 338 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), affirmed a directed verdict for the defendant where plaintiff expressly assumed the risk of injury resulting from her roller skating down a ramp onto a runway while holding ski poles in either hand.

Plaintiff has mischaracterized this Court's holding in Ashcroft v. Calder Race Course, Inc., 492 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1986), on pages 17-20 of her brief. Nowhere in Ashcroft does this Court state, "it only carved out a narrow exception to that [implied assumption of the risk merging with comparative negligence] in the Kuehner injuries received while participating in a contact sport due to accidents that are inherent in the risk of engaging in such a sport." (Petitioner's brief p. 17). Ashcroft did not hold that express assumption of the risk could not apply as a matter of law to horse racing. This Court reversed the District Court's reversal of the jury verdict because, "express assumption of risk waives only risks inherent in the sport itself. Riding on a track with a negligently placed exit gap is not an inherent risk in the sport of horse racing." (Emphasis added) Ashcroft v. Calder Race Course, Inc., supra, 1311.

Unlike the present situation, the plaintiff in Ashcroft could not have anticipated the risk of a negligently placed gate, not inherent in the activity of horse racing. Moreover, plaintiff's participation in the horse race did not involve any aberrant or intentional conduct on his part for which he might be held to have assumed the risk. Compare, Carvajal v. Alvarez, 462 So.2d 1156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Gary v. Party Time Co., Inc., supra; Strickland v. Robert, supra.

The risk of breaking one's neck is inherent in the aberrant sport of intentionally diving from a designated "No Diving" platform into known shallow water, while trying to train a child how to do it without getting hurt. Plaintiff's footnote 6 on page 20 of her brief, claiming that no one could see the "No Diving" stencils is incorrect. The stencils were faded but easily readable (R 235, 293, 509, 584). In any event, the plaintiff/mother knew the diving was dangerous. She initially refused to dive, stating the water was too shallow. Only when her boyfriend forced her did she try to show her daughter how to keep from hitting her head on the bottom (R 577). She then dove and hit her own head.

Robbins v. Department of Natural Resources, 468 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), is directly on point. Plaintiff there was paralyzed as a result of diving into shallow water at a public swimming area. The trial court granted summary judgment for the defendant on the basis of express assumption of the risk. The First District reversed because express assumption of the risk is a jury question, but specifically discounted the plaintiff's contention that express assumption of the risk cannot, as a matter of law, apply in this sort of case. In so holding, the First District stated as follows on pages 1043-1044 of the opinion:

If the evidence in this case were to be evaluated by a jury under the express assumption of risk criteria approved in Kuehner v. Green, 436 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1983), the jury could find the following: (1) that the plaintiff had, in fact, upon his first entry into the water, become fully aware of the shallow depth of the water and the existence of the protruding rocks: (2) that he had been able to see the bottom clearly from the platform; and (3) that he subjectively recognized the risk but gevertheless proceeded to execute his dive. Such an aberrant form of participation in the recreational activity of diving would be an appropriate occasion for application of the defense of express assumption of risk, notwithstanding the fact that diving is, of course, not a contact sport and involves no other participants, Gary v. Party Time Co., Inc., 434 So.2d 338 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), and that no formal release, consent or waiver form was involved., Kuehner, supra. (Emphasis added).

This language in <u>Robbins</u> was not dicta. The sole issue on appeal in <u>Robbins</u> was whether the trial court had properly granted a summary judgment in favor of the defendant on the ground of express assumption of the risk. The plaintiff argued that the defense of express assumption of the risk was not properly before the court because it was not pled and could not, as a matter of law, be applied in this sort of case.

The plaintiff's further contention that the First District receded from or modified Robbins in the City of Milton v. Broxson, 514 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), is also without merit. The City of Milton argued on appeal that the trial court should have granted its motion for summary judgment and motions for directed verdict because it was not legally responsible for the plaintiff's injuries since it had no duty to warn him of dangers or risks which should have been apparent to those attending the softball games at the park, especially where the plaintiff had played softball in the past, had previously attended games at the park as a spectator, and was familiar with the risks involved in the positioning of one's self in the area and dispute while players were warming up. This is not analogous to a finding that the plaintiff expressly assumed the risk. Rather, the City there contended it owed no duty

to the plaintiff as a matter of law. There is a tremendous difference between a jury's finding a plaintiff did have knowledge versus should have had knowledge. Broxson in no way modified Robbins.

jury here found that the plaintiff actually consented to confront certain known dangers which she subjectively appreciated. The Fourth District properly affirmed the verdict since ample evidence existed to support the jury's findings. If the jury had only found that the plaintiff should have appreciated the danger that caused her injury, comparative negligence would govern; however, the jury answered each of the questions regarding express assumption of the risk affirmatively. Plaintiff knew the depth of the water, had dived from the platform many times, and knew that diving into the shallow water could hurt her. Plaintiff knew the risks and voluntarily chose to encounter She was trying to show her child how to do a them. dangerous act without getting hurt.

Express assumption of the risk extends to situations where the plaintiff assumes the risk pursuant to an express contract and where the plaintiff is injured while engaged in a contact sport or an aberrant form of activity under circumstances where the plaintiff subjectively appreciated

the risk giving rise to the injury yet proceeded to participate in the face of such danger. This case meets every requirement of the latter category.

#### CONCLUSION

The certified question should be answered in the negative and the opinion of the Fourth District affirmed.

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, and JOHN BERANEK, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH